RECEIVED

Aug 31 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000182

Case No. 2019-CP-04-00752

Robert Ayers, Paul Barkal, Susan Barkal, Gloria Bennett, Kurt
Blaettler, Vandy Kim, Glenn Kornett, Gudrun Kornett, David Larson,
Lucye Larson, Florence Lince, Mike Lince, Michael McGraw, Diane
Bernat, and William Schaidle, Plaintiffs / Respondents,

v.

Chris Dixon; Samuel J. Dixon; Black Harbor Wealth Management, LLC;
Faw Casson & Co., LLP; Shurwest, LLC; and Pacific Life Insurance
Company, Defendants,

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Shurwest is organized under Arizona law and headquartered in Arizona. Is Shurwest subject to general personal jurisdiction in South Carolina?
- II. Shurwest did not authorize an employee to promote FIP (which turned out to be a Ponzi scheme) and Plaintiffs' South Carolina-based financial advisor knew that this employee had created a separate company and email address to handle FIP's financial products. Did the employee have apparent authority that subjects Shurwest to specific personal jurisdiction in South Carolina?
- III. Shurwest sued in an Arizona court the employee who, without Shurwest's permission and without Shurwest's knowledge, promoted FIP. That case settled. Arizona applies the same-evidence test to determine if there is an identity of claims for purposes of res judicata. The third-party claims Shurwest filed against that employee and her company here require evidence that was not required in the Arizona lawsuit. Does res judicata bar the third-party complaint?
- IV. Any liability Shurwest has on Plaintiffs' claims is because of the employee's unauthorized promotion of FIP, and that employee is a key figure in Plaintiffs' complaint. Did the circuit court abuse its discretion in striking the third-party complaint?

INTRODUCTION

Like people around the country, Plaintiffs in these three consolidated cases invested in Future Income Payments, LLC's ("FIP") "structured cash flows." It turned

out that FIP was a Ponzi scheme. When that scheme came crashing down (as Ponzi schemes inevitably do), Plaintiffs cast a wide net in trying to recover their losses.

Snared in that net is Shurwest. Shurwest is an Arizona-based independent marketing organization that markets annuities and insurance products to financial planners and licensed insurance agents. Shurwest did not promote FIP, and Shurwest specifically rejected a request from one of its employees, Melanie Schulze-Miller, to promote FIP. But Schulze-Miller didn't listen. Instead, she went rogue, created her own company without telling Shurwest, and then began marketing FIP without Shurwest's knowledge.

Because Schulze-Miller—not Shurwest—promoted FIP, Shurwest sought to dismiss the case for lack of personal jurisdiction. The circuit court mistakenly rejected that argument, applying the wrong test for general jurisdiction and disregarding Schulze-Miller's lack of apparent authority in the specific-jurisdiction analysis.

After that motion was denied, Shurwest filed a third-party complaint against Schulze-Miller and her company. The circuit court granted motions to dismiss and strike the third-party complaint. This was another error, given that if Shurwest is liable to Plaintiffs, then Schulze-Miller is responsible too. She was, after all, the person promoting FIP without permission.

And this error is appealable, which is how this case is here now. This Court has held that it can consider a personal jurisdiction issue (which is not typically immediately appealable) on an interlocutory appeal of another order. The Court should do so in this case because the personal jurisdiction issue is dispositive of this

entire case. At the very least, if the Court determines to let the case proceed at this stage, the case should proceed with third-party claims as part of the litigation.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The FIP Ponzi scheme.

In 2019, the federal government indicted FIP and others in the District of South Carolina for running a Ponzi scheme that began in April 2011. *See* Indictment, *USA v. Kohn*, No. 6:19-cr-239 (D.S.C. Mar. 12, 2019), ECF 2. In short, FIP recruited pension holders who were in financial distress and enticed them to sell their monthly pension payments to FIP in exchange for a lump sum payment or loan. *See id.* FIP then solicited investors to purchase these monthly pension payments, representing that these “structured cash flows” would provide higher rates of return than other products. *See id.* at 3. FIP told investors that FIP had reserve accounts to protect against the risk of default by any pension holders. Eventually, FIP allegedly diverted investor funds flowing into its business to fund payments to earlier investors. *See id.*; (*see also* R. pp. 114 –115.)¹

Plaintiffs adopt the Life Insurance Retirement Strategy.

Plaintiffs used Chris Dixon and Black Harbor Wealth Management, LLC for retirement-planning advice. (R. p. 122.) Founded in 2011, Black Harbor is a “holistic retirement planning shop.” (R. p. 619, p. 17, ln. 20 - 22.)

¹ Each of these three appeals had its own docket below. Those filings are substantially identical, so for simplicity, this brief cites to the filings in *Ayers*. The Record on Appeal, however, contains the filings from all three cases.

On the recommendation of Dixon and Black Harbor, many Plaintiffs implemented what was called the Life Insurance Retirement Strategy, was also known as the IRA Reboot. (R. pp. 111, 122.) This strategy involved an indexed universal life insurance (“IUL”) policy. (R. p. 123.) In an IUL policy, any premium payments above the cost of the insurance are put in an internal investment account by the insurance company, which creates a “cash value” for the policy. (R. p. 123.) The goal of an IUL policy was to fully fund it at the cash value an investor thought he needed for retirement, then use the cash value for tax-free loans. (R. p. 123.) The policyholder wouldn’t need to repay the loans, as the death benefit of the policy would take care of that. (R. p. 123.)

Many Plaintiffs fund their Life Insurance Retirement Strategy through FIP.

To make the Life Insurance Retirement Strategy work, an investor had to try to make the target amount of extra premium payments as quickly as possible. That requires extra cash.

Many Plaintiffs were encouraged to purchase FIP products to fund their IUL-policy strategy. (R. p. 124.) When the Ponzi scheme collapsed, these Plaintiffs lost money and could not fund their IUL policies.² (R. pp. 117, 125 –126.)

A rogue Shurwest employee promotes FIP.

The crux of this appeal and Plaintiffs’ claims against Shurwest turn on what Shurwest did (or didn’t do) regarding FIP.

² At least one Plaintiff did not purchase an IUL policy, despite a recommendation to do so. (R. p. 126.) That shows the claims here are really about Plaintiffs’ investment in FIP, not the IUL policy itself.

Shurwest is an Arizona-based independent marketing organization that markets annuities and insurance products to financial planners and licensed insurance agents. (R. pp. 435 – 436). Chris Dixon and Black Harbor did not work for, represent, or conduct business for Shurwest; Dixon and Black Harbor were the types of financial planners and licensed insurance agents to whom Shurwest marketed. (R. p. 436.) Everyone in this case agrees that Shurwest promoted IUL policies to Chris Dixon and Black Harbor. The dispute is over whether Shurwest promoted FIP as a way to fund those IUL policies.

Dixon learned about Life Insurance Retirement Strategy from another financial advisor during a conference in Las Vegas. (R. p. 622, p. 29, ln. 3 - 5.) Dixon began corresponding with Melanie Schulze-Miller, Shurwest's former director of life insurance and the third-party defendant in this case. (R. p. 622, p. 29, ln. 13 - 18.)

Dixon's correspondence with Schulze-Miller was about the same time that Schulze-Miller sought Shurwest's approval to market and promote FIP. (R. p. 436.) Shurwest executives expressed skepticism with FIP, (R. pp. 551 – 554), and told Schulze-Miller no, (R. pp. 436 – 437). Schulze-Miller has admitted that Shurwest told her no and never approved using FIP as a funding source of life insurance premium payments. (R. p. 440.)

Dissatisfied with Shurwest's answer, Schulze-Miller created her own company, MJSM Financial, LLC, to market FIP's products. (R. pp. 437, 440.) Schulze-Miller created a separate email account for her company. (R. p. 437.) Her goal with the new company was to separate her FIP-related activities from Shurwest. (R. p. 440.) MJSM

Financial established a relationship with FIP. (R. p. 441.) FIP made payments to MJSM Financial, not to Shurwest. (R. p. 441.) And Schulze-Miller included a disclaimer in her emails that the FIP products were *not* sold through Shurwest but rather through MJSM Financial. (R. p. 441.)

Schulze-Miller eventually told Dixon about FIP. (R. p. 624, p. 39, ln. 12 - 21.) Dixon knew that MJSM Financial was a separate company Schulze-Miller had formed. (R. p. 655, p. 161, ln. 8 -11.) And Schulze-Miller instructed Dixon to correspond to a different email address from her Shurwest email address regarding FIP. (R. p. 625, p. 42, ln. 15 - 16.)

In exchanges with Black Harbor, Schulze-Miller—even when improperly using her Shurwest email account, (R. pp. 441 - 442)—still made clear that “All Structured Cash flow Products process through MJSM Financial” and included her MJSM Financial email address, (R. p. 568). Schulze-Miller never told Dixon she was doing FIP business outside of Shurwest or that Shurwest had refused to do business with FIP; in fact, she lied and said Shurwest was “okay with” FIP. (R. pp. 650 – 651, p. 142, ln. 18 – 25; p. 146, ln. 1 – p. 147, ln. 2.)

In addition to email exchanges, Dixon had in-person meetings with Schulze-Miller and others at Shurwest. First, Schulze-Miller flew to South Carolina in May 2016, when Dixon was still considering whether to recommend FIP. (R. p. 627, p. 50, ln. 14 – ln. 21.) Although some people from Shurwest may have been in meetings when FIP was discussed, only Schulze-Miller was involved in all of these discussions. (R. p. 627, p. 51, ln. 7- 17.) Then, in August 2016, Dixon flew to Arizona to meet with

Schulze-Miller, Jim Maschek from Shurwest, and others. (R. pp. 629, 630, p. 60, ln. 23 – p. 62, ln. 22.) These meetings were primarily about annuities and life insurance. (R. p. 630, p. 62, ln. 1-22.) Dixon never asked anyone at Shurwest other than Schulze-Miller about FIP.

Although Plaintiffs contend FIP had allegedly solicited Shurwest's business for some time, Shurwest never approved the sale, marketing, or promotion of FIP. (R. p. 436.) Accordingly, Shurwest never provided any education, advice, or training to Dixon or Black Harbor about FIP. (R. p. 436.) When training Dixon on how to complete the Minnesota Life insurance forms that were used as part of the Life Insurance Retirement Strategy, Shurwest told Dixon to include clients' income and other assets, without ever saying anything about FIP. (R. p. 652, p. 150, ln. 3 - 8.) And Shurwest has never made any payments to or received any payments from FIP. (R. p. 437.)

Shurwest knew nothing about Schulze-Miller promoting FIP. (R. pp. 437, 441.) Shurwest did not know Schulze-Miller inadvertently used her Shurwest email for MJSM Financial business or at times had Shurwest employees under her perform clerical tasks for MJSM Financial. (R. pp. 441 – 442.) One such employee, Michael Seabolt, has stated that MJSM Financial paid him commissions and Schulze-Miller told him that Shurwest did not approve of, offer, or sponsor FIP products. (R. p. 2052.) Seabolt's activities related to FIP were not part of his Shurwest job responsibilities, and when financial advisors asked about FIP, Seabolt referred these advisors to Joe Hipp at FIP. (R. p. 2053.)

As soon as Shurwest learned what Schulze-Miller was doing, Shurwest fired her. (R. p. 437.)

Plaintiffs sue Shurwest and others.

After the FIP Ponzi scheme collapsed, Plaintiffs sued Shurwest and others. Specific to Shurwest, Plaintiffs alleged claims for negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, and aiding and abetting a breach of fiduciary duty, (R. pp. 126 – 128.)

Shurwest moved to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. (R. p. 408.) The circuit court denied that motion, concluding that Shurwest is subject to both general and specific personal jurisdiction in South Carolina. (R. pp. 1 – 8.)

In addition to answering Plaintiffs' complaint (R. pp. 146 – 164), Shurwest also filed a third-party complaint against Schulze-Miller and MJSM Financial, (R. pp. 167 – 173). That complaint asserted claims for equitable indemnification, breach of contract, and breach of fiduciary duty, on the theory that if Shurwest was liable to Plaintiffs, Schulze-Miller and MJSM Financial were liable to Shurwest. (R. pp. 170 – 171.) Plaintiffs moved to strike, or alternatively, to sever the third-party complaint. (R. pp. 725 – 733.) Meanwhile, Schulze-Miller and MJSM Financial moved to dismiss the third-party complaint, based on a settlement Schulze-Miller and Shurwest reached in an Arizona lawsuit. (R. pp. 758 – 810.) The circuit court granted the motion to strike, (R. pp. 25 – 31), and the motion to dismiss,³ (R. pp. 9 – 24.)

Shurwest timely appealed. (R. p. 1923.)

³ The circuit court later “rescinded” the portion of this order related to attorney’s fees. (R. p. 32). This change to the order is not relevant to this appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A circuit court's decision on personal jurisdiction will be reversed whenever it is unsupported by the evidence or influenced by an error of law. *Cockrell v. Hillerich & Bradsby Co.*, 363 S.C. 485, 491, 611 S.E.2d 505, 508 (2005). Pretrial, a plaintiff must make a prima facie showing of jurisdiction in the complaint or affidavits. *Id.*

This Court reviews a circuit court's decision to dismiss a complaint de novo. *Rydde v. Morris*, 381 S.C. 643, 646, 675 S.E.2d 431, 433 (2009). This Court reviews a motion to strike a pleading for abuse of discretion. *Beach v. Hudson*, 298 S.C. 424, 426, 380 S.E.2d 869, 871 (Ct. App. 1989.)⁴

ARGUMENT

I. Shurwest is not subject to personal jurisdiction in South Carolina.

The circuit court concluded Shurwest was subject to both general and specific jurisdiction in South Carolina. On both fronts, the circuit court erred. Because Shurwest is not subject to personal jurisdiction, this entire case should be dismissed.

South Carolina's long-arm statute extends as far as due process allows, so the traditional two-step inquiry for personal jurisdiction collapses into a single due

⁴ Given this is an interlocutory appeal, it's worth briefly confirming the Court's jurisdiction. The dismissal of a complaint is, of course, appealable, *see, e.g., Flateau v. Harrelson*, 355 S.C. 197, 203, 584 S.E.2d 413, 416 (Ct. App. 2003), as is an order that "strikes out . . . any pleading in any action," S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(2)(c); *see also Thornton v. S.C. Elec. & Gas Corp.*, 391 S.C. 297, 304, 705 S.E.2d 475, 479 (Ct. App. 2011). Although orders denying motions to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction are typically not immediately appealable, the personal jurisdiction question "can be considered when other appealable issues are presented to an appellate court." *QZO, Inc. v. Moyer*, 358 S.C. 246, 252, 594 S.E.2d 541, 545 (Ct. App. 2004). This Court therefore has jurisdiction over all of the issues raised in this appeal.

process question. *See S. Plastics Co. v. S. Com. Bank*, 310 S.C. 256, 260, 423 S.E.2d 128, 130 (1992). Personal jurisdiction under the Due Process Clause comes in two forms: general and specific. *See Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Court*, 137 S. Ct. 1773, 1779–80 (2017). General jurisdiction allows a court “to hear any and all claims against” a defendant, and it requires a defendant be “essentially at home” in that forum. *Goodyear Dunlop Tires Operations, S.A. v. Brown*, 564 U.S. 915, 919 (2011). Specific jurisdiction, by contrast, is more limited in scope, “focus[ing] on the relationship among the defendant, the forum, and the litigation.” *Walden v. Fiore*, 571 U.S. 277, 284 (2014).

A. Shurwest is not subject to general jurisdiction in South Carolina.

Concluding that general jurisdiction does not exist here should be easy. In two recent decisions, the U.S. Supreme Court has clarified that general jurisdiction exists only when a defendant is “essentially at home in the forum state.” *Daimler AG v. Bauman*, 571 U.S. 117, 127 (2014). The “paradigm” examples of being at home for a corporate entity are its state of incorporation and principal place of business. *Id.* at 137. This means that the “enduring relationship” test the circuit court applied is not the correct legal standard. (*See R.* p. 5.)

Instead of applying the “at home” test, the circuit court relied on the fact that Shurwest is registered to do business in South Carolina to conclude that Shurwest is subject to general jurisdiction in South Carolina. (*See R.* p. 5.) That reasoning is incompatible with *Daimler AG*. Given that states virtually always require an entity to register to do business there, this registration rationale would eviscerate the “at

home” rule by making entities subject to general jurisdiction everywhere they do business. The U.S. Supreme Court rejected such a sweeping scope for general jurisdiction. *See Daimler AG*, 571 U.S. at 153–56 (Sotomayor, J., concurring) (arguing for a broader scope for general jurisdiction and explaining her disagreement with Justice Ginsburg’s majority opinion); *see also Ford Motor Co. v. Montana Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 141 S. Ct. 1017, 1024 (2021) (noting that general jurisdiction exists in only a “select” set of forums). And both the Fourth Circuit and the District of South Carolina have rejected the argument that registering to do business in South Carolina means a defendant has consented to general jurisdiction in this State. *See, e.g., Fidrych v. Marriott Int’l, Inc.*, 952 F.3d 124, 138 (4th Cir. 2020); *Nat’l Beverage Screen Printers, Inc. v. DALB, Inc.*, No. 1:16-CV-03850-JMC, 2018 WL 2718035, at *3 n.7 (D.S.C. June 6, 2018). Such a result is compelled by U.S. Supreme Court precedent, and the circuit court erred when it reached the opposite conclusion.

Under the U.S. Supreme Court’s “at home” test, Shurwest is not subject to general jurisdiction in South Carolina. Shurwest is organized under Arizona law, and it is headquartered in Arizona. (*See R. p. 436.*) Shurwest is thus not at home in South Carolina.

B. Shurwest is not subject to specific jurisdiction in South Carolina.

Specific jurisdiction, again, looks at “the relationship among the defendant, the forum, and the litigation.” *Walden*, 571 U.S. at 284. The type of personal jurisdiction requires a defendant have “certain minimum contacts” with the forum state so that being sued there “does not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial

justice.” *Int’l Shoe Co. v. Washington*, 326 U.S. 310, 316 (1945). The contacts a defendant has with the forum must be ones it creates. *Walden*, 571 U.S. at 284. The contacts must be with the forum itself, not just with the plaintiff. *Id.* at 285. This analysis involves a two-step inquiry: (1) whether the defendant has sufficient contacts with the forum, and (2) whether exercising jurisdiction is reasonable. *See Cribb v. Spatholt*, 382 S.C. 490, 499, 676 S.E.2d 714, 719 (Ct. App. 2009).

The circuit court below based its specific-jurisdiction conclusion on four things: (1) Shurwest is registered to do business in South Carolina, (2) Dixon traveled to Arizona to meet with Shurwest and Schulze-Miller, (3) Schulze-Miller traveled to South Carolina to meet with Dixon, and (4) Schulze-Miller continued corresponding with Dixon. (*See R.* pp. 5 – 6.)

The first thing (Shurwest’s registration to do business in this State) can quickly be put aside as irrelevant. Simply registering to do business in South Carolina is not related to this particular case. Indeed, to do anything in this State, Shurwest must register. *See S.C. Code Ann. § 38-5-10 et seq.* That does not help with the specific jurisdiction analysis.

That leaves the interactions Shurwest and Schulze-Miller had with Dixon. At this point, it’s important to be precise in what this case is about and what this case is not about. Plaintiffs’ claims are, at their core, about their investment in FIP products. They are not about the Life Insurance Retirement Strategy. We know this because at least one Plaintiff admitted she never purchased an IUL policy as part of the Life Insurance Retirement Strategy, but instead purchased only a FIP product.

(See R. p. 126.) If this suit were actually about Life Insurance Retirement Strategy, then this person could not possibly be a plaintiff. But she is—making clear that this case is about FIP.

The distinction between IUL policies and FIP is critical here, and it is a distinction the circuit court failed to draw. If this case were about IUL policies, Shurwest would be subject to personal jurisdiction in South Carolina. Shurwest did recommend that investment strategy to Dixon, who in turn recommended it to Plaintiffs.

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