RECEIVED

Aug 31 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-04-00752

Appellate Case No. 2020-000182

Robert Ayers, Paul Barkal, Susan Barkal, Gloria Bennett, Kurt Blaettler, Vandy Kim, Glenn Kornett, Gudrun Kornett, David Larson, Lucye Larson, Florence Lince, Mike Lince, Michael McGraw, Diane Bernat, and William Schaidle,

Plaintiffs / Respondents,

v.

Chris Dixon; Samuel J. Dixon; Black Harbor Wealth Management, LLC; Faw Casson & Co.,
LLP; Shurwest, LLC; and Pacific Life Insurance Company,

Of whom Shurwest, LLC is the Appellant.

and

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

Accordingly, because the circuit court's finding that the Individual Respondents made a *prima facie* showing that Shurwest is subject to personal jurisdiction in South Carolina is both supported by the evidence and the law, the Individual Respondents respectfully request the Court affirm the circuit court's denial of Shurwest's Motion to Dismiss.⁹ *See Cribb*, 382 S.C. at 496,

⁹ If the Court disagrees with the circuit court's finding that Shurwest is subject to personal jurisdiction in South Carolina, the Individual Respondents request the Court remand the case to allow for jurisdictional discovery to occur. The Individual Respondents requested jurisdiction

676 S.E.2d at 717 (“The circuit court’s decision should be affirmed unless unsupported by the evidence or influenced by an error of law.”); *Clark*, 304 S.C. at 500, 405 S.E.2d at 600–01 (“This Court is bound by the [circuit] court’s findings that a nonresident defendant is subject to jurisdiction, unless there is no evidentiary support.”).

II. The circuit court did not err in striking two causes of action in Shurwest’s Third-Party Complaint where Shurwest’s claims against Schulze-Miller would unnecessarily complicate the litigation and are not derivative of the Individual Respondents’ claims

The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in striking Shurwest’s third-party claims for breach of contract and breach of fiduciary duty because they are not derivative of the Individual Respondents’ claims and they would unnecessarily complicate the litigation. *See Beach*, 298 S.C. at 426, 380 S.E.2d at 871 (“The question of whether to grant a motion to strike a third-party claim, whether filed with or without leave of the court, is addressed to the sound discretion of the [circuit] court.”).

Pursuant to Rule 14(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, “[a]ny party may move to strike a third-party claim, or for its severance or separate trial.”

When considering a request to strike or to sever a third-party claim, the court may properly consider “the effect the additional parties and claims will have on the adjudication of the main action-in particular, whether continued joinder will serve to complicate the litigation unduly or will prejudice the other parties in any substantial way.”

Beach, 298 S.C. at 426, 380 S.E.2d at 871 (quoting 6 C. WRIGHT AND A. MILLER § 1460 at 319).

discovery in response to Shurwest’s Motion to Dismiss and are entitled to this discovery if the Court believes they have not yet made a *prima facie* case for personal jurisdiction. (R. p. 469). *See Graham Law Firm, P.A. v. Makawi*, 396 S.C. 290, 299, 721 S.E.2d 430, 435 (2012) (“When the plaintiff can show that discovery is necessary in order to meet [a] defendant’s challenge to personal jurisdiction, a court should ordinarily permit discovery on that issue unless [the] plaintiff’s claim appears to be clearly frivolous.”).

The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in finding the inclusion of the third-party claims would unduly complicate the litigation. The circuit court is within bounds to consider what effect a third-party claim “will have on the adjudication of the main action” and “whether continued joinder will serve to complicate the litigation unduly or will prejudice the other parties in any substantial way.” *Id.* at 426, 380 S.E.2d at 871 (quoting 6 C. WRIGHT AND A. MILLER § 1460 at 319). In *Beach*, this Court found the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in striking a third-party complaint in its entirety. *Id.* at 426–27, 380 S.E.2d at 870–71. The Court explained,

In our view, the assertion against four additional parties of seven additional causes of action in the third-party complaint, involving as those causes of action do allegations, among other things, of fraud, negligence, recklessness, outrage, and unfair trade practices, treble damages, and repeated demands for punitive damages, will unduly complicate the adjudication of the relatively simple contract action brought by the plaintiffs. Indeed, the causes of action asserted by Hudson, if tried alongside the plaintiffs' claim, would all but submerge the plaintiffs' claim.

Id. at 426–27, 380 S.E.2d at 871. The Court noted that it did not need to consider whether the causes of action raised in the third-party complaint were properly “dependent on the outcome of the plaintiffs’ claim” because of its finding on whether the third-party complaint would unduly complicate the litigation. *Id.* at 427, 380 S.E.2d at 871.

As explained in *Beach*, a circuit court has wide discretion in determining what effect a third-party complaint will have on the existing litigation. This is because a third-party complaint is permissive, not mandatory. *See* Rule 14(a) (explaining a defendant in an action *may* file a third-party complaint). Therefore, had Shurwest’s claims not been also barred by res judicata, nothing would stop Shurwest from filing them separately in another action after the circuit court struck them. The circuit court noted the inclusion of the third-party claims could potentially cause the case to be stayed and found this, as well as other reasons, could result in substantial prejudice to the Individual Respondents. (R. pp. 28–29).

Further, unlike *Beach* where a simple contract action was involved, these actions are already complicated without the inclusion of Shurwest’s additional third-party claims against non-parties. These actions involve complicated insurance matters as well as the relationships between and among various defendants. Each action has numerous plaintiffs that have asserted six different causes of action against seven different defendants. There is no need to add in Shurwest’s three causes of action against two additional parties. Furthermore, Shurwest’s assertion of its own independent claims against Schulze-Miller and MJSM—two non-parties to the Individual Respondents’ claims that are likely to be mentioned at any trial of this case—is very likely to confuse the issues before the jury. Like in *Beach*, any claims Shurwest has against Schulze-Miller and MJSM would unnecessarily and unfairly complicate the issues and would detract from the Individual Respondents’ claims. The Individual Respondents are the “architects of their own complaint,” and Shurwest should not be allowed to add Schulze-Miller and MJSM under the guise of a third-party complaint to deprive the Individual Respondents of the right to bring their case against the defendants of their own choosing.¹⁰ See *Morrow v. Fundamental Long-Term Care Holdings, LLC*, 412 S.C. 534, 539, 773 S.E.2d 144, 146 (2015); see also *Chester v. S.C. Dep’t of Pub. Safety*, 388 S.C. 343, 345, 698 S.E.2d 559, 560 (2010) (“It is well-settled that a plaintiff has the sole right to determine which co-tortfeasor(s) she will sue.”).

Further, the circuit court refused to strike Shurwest’s claim for equitable indemnification and merely severed this claim, finding it was not ripe until Shurwest was found to be liable to the Individual Respondents. Shurwest does not object to the treatment of its equitable indemnification

¹⁰ The Court need only look to the Preliminary Statement of Shurwest’s Third-Party Complaint to see that Shurwest is really attempting to thwart the Individual Respondents’ right to be the architect of their own Complaints. (R. p. 168 (“This third-party complaint seeks to hold the true wrongdoers in this case accountable, something Plaintiffs – who voluntarily dismissed Schulze-Miller and MJSM – are not interested in doing.”)).

claim. Thus, Shurwest still has an avenue of relief against Schulze-Miller and MJSM, and it is not prejudiced by the circuit court striking its other claims because they would unduly complicate the litigation. As in *Beach*, the Court need not consider whether the third-party claims are derivative if it finds the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in striking the claims because they would unduly complicate the litigation. *Id.* at 427, 380 S.E.2d at 871.

However, the circuit court also did not abuse its discretion in striking the third-party claims for breach of contract and breach of fiduciary duty because they are not derivative of the Individual Respondents' claims. "Under Rule 14, the third-party plaintiff must have a substantive claim against the third-party defendant founded upon derivative liability." *First Gen. Servs. of Charleston, Inc. v. Miller*, 314 S.C. 439, 442, 445 S.E.2d 446, 447 (1994). "The outcome of the principal claim must impact the third-party defendant's liability; however, no right exists to implead a third-party defendant who is directly liable to the plaintiff." *Id.*

Derivative liability is "liability for a wrong that a person other than the one wronged has a right to redress" whereas secondary liability is "liability that does not arise unless the primarily liable party fails to honor its obligation." *Laughlin v. Dell Fin. Servs., L.P.*, 465 F. Supp. 2d 563, 566 (D.S.C. 2006) (quoting Black's Law Dictionary 926 (7th ed. 1999)).¹¹ "[A] third-party claim is only viable 'where a proposed third-party plaintiff says, in effect, 'If I am liable to plaintiff, then my liability is only technical or secondary or partial, and the third-party defendant is derivatively liable and must reimburse me for all or part . . . of anything I must pay plaintiff.''" *Id.* (quoting *Watergate Landmark Condo. Unit Owners' Ass'n v. Wiss, Janey, Elstner Assoc., Inc.*, 117 F.R.D. 576 (E.D. Va. 1987)). Therefore, in order for a third-party claim to be acceptable,

¹¹ "Rules 14(a) through (c) are substantially the same as the Federal Rule, except for the omission of references to admiralty and maritime practice, and the addition of Rule 14(c) as to joinder." Notes to Rule 14, SCRC.

First, the non-party must be potentially liable to the third[-]party plaintiff. Second, the non-party's liability must relate to the plaintiff's claim against the defendant/third party plaintiff such that the third[-]party defendant's liability arises only if the defendant/third-party plaintiff is first held liable to plaintiff.

Thompson v. UFP E. Div., Inc., No. 2:11-CV-1170, 2012 WL 3686064, at *1–2 (D.S.C. Aug. 24, 2012) (quoting *Tetra Tech EC/Tsoro Joint Venture v. Sam Temples Masonry, Inc.*, No. 10–1597, 2011 WL 1048964, at *3 (D.S.C. Mar. 21, 2011)). “In other words, a third[-]party claim is not appropriate where the defendant and putative third party plaintiff says, in effect, ‘It was him, not me.’” *Watergate Landmark Condo. Unit Owners’ Ass’n*, 117 F.R.D. at 578.

In the Third-Party Complaint, Shurwest seeks to place the blame solely on Schulze-Miller instead of Shurwest. Throughout the Third-Party Complaint, Shurwest alleges it never authorized the promotion of FIP products and that Schulze-Miller and MJSM acted on their own behalf in promoting FIP products. (R. pp. 169–70). The first cause of action for equitable indemnification in the Third-Party Complaint alleges that “Shurwest is not responsible for any of the Plaintiffs’ alleged damages related to the promotion or sale of FIP products. Schulze-Miller and MJSM are. As a result, Schulze-Miller and MJSM are liable to Shurwest.” (R. p. 170). Although the circuit court severed this cause of action, it reveals Shurwest’s real intentions in attempting to bring the other claims against Schulze-Miller. Shurwest’s motivation is further confirmed by the Preliminary Statement in the Third-Party Complaint:

As Plaintiffs’ own complaint clearly alleges, Schulze-Miller and MJSM were responsible for Plaintiffs’ decision to invest with Future Income Payments, LLC (“FIP”) and the losses that resulted from the decision. *This third-party complaint seeks to hold the true wrongdoers in this case accountable*, something Plaintiffs – who voluntarily dismissed Schulze-Miller and MJSM – are not interested in doing.

(R. p. 168 (emphasis added)). According to Shurwest’s Third-Party Complaint, it believes Schulze-Miller and MJSM are the true wrongdoers, not Shurwest. Thus, their third-party claims

are simply, “It was Schulze-Miller/MJSM, not me.” This is the exact situation the case law makes clear is inappropriate. *See Watergate Landmark Condo. Unit Owners’ Ass’n*, 117 F.R.D. at 578.

In the breach of contract cause of action, Shurwest alleges Schulze-Miller breached an employment agreement with Shurwest by “misusing Shurwest’s confidential information for her own selfish benefit and to Shurwest’s detriment.” (R. p. 170–71). This cause of action is not dependent on the Individual Respondents’ claims. It is wholly independent of whether Shurwest is found to be liable to the Individual Respondents. Regardless of whether Shurwest is liable to the Individual Respondents, the allegations against Schulze-Miller that she marketed FIP without Shurwest’s involvement stand. In fact, that is Shurwest’s exact argument as to why it cannot be liable to the Individual Respondents in this case.

Similarly, turning to the breach of fiduciary duty claim, Shurwest alleges Schulze-Miller and MJSM acted without Shurwest’s knowledge and “engag[ed] in unauthorized business dealings with FIP.” (R. p. 171). Shurwest alleges this conduct “damaged Shurwest’s reputation, perceptions of its integrity, and its business and client relationships.” (R. p. 171). This allegation is also wholly independent of the Individual Respondents’ claims against Shurwest and is another attempt by Shurwest to argue that Schulze-Miller acted on her own and without Shurwest’s authority or knowledge. Further, the fact that Shurwest brought identical allegations against Schulze-Miller in Arizona years before attempting to bring their third-party claims also shows that their claims are not dependent on the Individual Respondents’ recovery. (R. pp. 735–53).

Accordingly, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in striking the two causes of action from the Third-Party Complaint.¹² *See Beach*, 298 S.C. at 426, 380 S.E.2d at 871 (“The

¹² As this issue is dispositive, the Court need not consider whether the claims were also validly struck and dismissed due to res judicata. *See Futch*, 335 S.C. at 613, 518 S.E.2d at 598 (stating an appellate court need not address all issues on appeal when its decision on one issue is dispositive).

question of whether to grant a motion to strike a third-party claim, whether filed with or without leave of the court, is addressed to the sound discretion of the [circuit] court.”).

III. The circuit court did not err in partially striking and dismissing the Third-Party Complaint because the claims are barred by res judicata

The circuit court further did not abuse its discretion in striking Shurwest’s third-party claims for breach of contract and breach of fiduciary duty because they are barred by res judicata.¹³ *See Beach*, 298 S.C. at 426, 380 S.E.2d at 871 (“The question of whether to grant a motion to strike a third-party claim, whether filed with or without leave of the court, is addressed to the sound discretion of the [circuit] court.”).

“Res judicata bars subsequent actions by the same parties when the claims arise out of the same transaction or occurrence that was the subject of a prior action between those parties.” *S.C. Pub. Int. Found. v. Greenville Cty.*, 401 S.C. 377, 385, 737 S.E.2d 502, 506 (Ct. App. 2013) (quoting *Judy v. Judy*, 393 S.C. 160, 172, 712 S.E.2d 408, 414 (2011)). “Under the doctrine of res judicata, a litigant is barred from raising any issues which were adjudicated in the former suit and any issues which might have been raised in the former suit.” *Id.* (quoting *Judy*, 393 S.C. at 172, 712 S.E.2d at 414).

A final judgment on the merits in a prior action will conclude the parties and their privies under the doctrine of res judicata in a second action based on the same claim as to issues actually litigated and as to issues which might have been litigated in the first action.

Beall v. Doe, 281 S.C. 363, 369 n.1, 315 S.E.2d 186, 190 n.1 (Ct. App. 1984). “Res judicata's

¹³ The circuit court also granted Schulze-Miller and MJSM’s Motion to Dismiss these claims as barred by res judicata. Regardless of whether this Court applies an abuse of discretion standard under the motion to strike or a standard viewing all allegations in a light most favorable to Shurwest under the motion to dismiss, the result is the same. *See Williams*, 347 S.C. at 233, 553 S.E.2d at 500 (explaining a decision to dismiss will be affirmed where “the facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deducible from the pleadings” would not entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory of the case).

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